FILED 8/9/2017 1:12 PM Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

Supreme Court No.	
Court of Appeals No. 74806-8-I	
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STAT WASHINGTON	E OF

Cindius Romney as Personal Representative of the Estate of Dr. Michael Romney, Dr. Faron Bauer, and Dr. Kristen Childress, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Respondents,

v.

Franciscan Medical Group, a Washington Corporation,
Franciscan Health System, a Washington Corporation,
Franciscan Health Ventures, a Washington Corporation,
Franciscan Northwest Physicians Health Network, LLC, a Washington
Corporation, and
Catholic Health Initiatives, a Colorado Corporation,

Petitioners.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Franciscan Medical Group and the related entities identified in the caption (collectively "FMG").

II. DECISION FOR REVIEW

FMG seeks review of a published Court of Appeals ("COA") opinion, Case No. 74806-8-I, filed July 10, 2017, which terminated review in this matter and is reproduced in the Appendix ("Appx.").

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

Under controlling law, a party cannot be forced to arbitrate with a class unless it specifically agreed to do so. Here, although it held that FMG did not agree to class arbitration, the COA nevertheless ruled that FMG waived its right to object to class arbitration by failing to timely assert that right. The latter ruling presents the following issues of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4):

- **A.** Can a right to class arbitration, which does not otherwise exist, be created under the doctrine of litigation waiver, similar to when a party fails to timely move to compel arbitration in a civil action?
- **B.** To avoid litigation waiver, must a party object to relief (class arbitration) that has not been requested, and may not ever be

requested, by the opposing party, or is it sufficient to object when the contested relief is actually requested?

C. Are comments made in pleadings and argument where the right to class arbitration was not an issue sufficient to waive objection to a later request for class arbitration?

D. Can prejudice sufficient to support a holding of litigation waiver be based on speculation that the other party might have acted differently if an earlier objection to class arbitration had been made?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs¹ are physicians and a nurse practitioner formerly employed by FMG. As a condition of employment, they signed agreements requiring them to arbitrate all employment-related disputes.² Notwithstanding the Agreements, Plaintiffs commenced an action in superior court, alleging wage and hour claims on a class basis, as well as other individual claims. CP 1–11.

Because the Agreements barred their lawsuit, they immediately asked the superior court to void them. CP 12-37. FMG opposed and, before answering, filed a cross-motion to compel arbitration. CP 169-89.

¹ Respondents Romney, Bauer, and Childress are collectively referenced as "Plaintiffs" in this petition.

² CP 45-71, 81-107, 116-36 (the "Agreements").

The superior court granted Plaintiffs' motion. CP 255–58. On appeal, the COA reversed, holding that the Agreements were valid. CP 1167–82. Plaintiffs unsuccessfully sought review by this Court and the matter was remanded to superior court for further proceedings. CP 1165–66. At no time during these proceedings did Plaintiffs request class arbitration.

After this Court denied review, FMG invited Plaintiffs to propose arbitrators to preside over their individual cases. After Plaintiffs insisted on class arbitration, FMG moved to compel individual arbitrations, which Plaintiffs opposed. CP 1183–89; 1326–39. The superior court granted FMG's motion. CP 1503–04. Plaintiffs' request for discretionary review was granted by the COA.

In the decision that is the subject of this petition, the COA held that the court, not an arbitrator, must decide whether the Agreements permit class arbitration. Appx., p. 3. It also held that class arbitration is permitted only by agreement and the Agreements in question do not provide for class arbitration. *Id.* at 5–10. Accordingly, it concluded that "FMG had a contractual right to avoid class arbitration." *Id.* at 10.

Notwithstanding these holdings, the COA held that a right to class arbitration arose under the doctrine of waiver based on FMG's litigation conduct. *Id.* at 10–15. Contradicting its other holding that a right to class arbitration cannot be implied or inferred, *id.* at 7, the COA based its

waiver holding on the presumption in favor of arbitration and Plaintiffs "impliedly asserting" a right to class arbitration. *Id.* at 11, 15. However, it cited no authority supporting a presumption in favor of class arbitration or requiring a party to object to an "implied assertion." *Id.* at 11–12.

The COA also treated the issue as akin to waiver of "a contractually created affirmative defense," *id.* at 11 n.10, while ignoring the fact that, during the initial phases of this litigation, Plaintiffs never requested class arbitration, and the matter was never in a posture where FMG was required to plead affirmative defenses to such a request. The COA also faulted FMG for "being content to litigate against a putative class" when it "wanted a determination on the right to compel arbitration," *id.* at 12 n.10, while ignoring the fact that Plaintiffs never moved for class certification and the rule that an uncertified class action is no different than an individual action. *Aguilera v. Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corp.*, 223 F.3d 1010, 1013 n.1 (9th Cir. 2000).

Applying these three concepts, the COA concluded that FMG knew it had a right to compel individual arbitrations, but that its litigation conduct was inconsistent with an intent to object to class arbitration. *Id.* at 12. In this regard, it first faulted FMG for not waiting to file its motion to compel arbitration until after a decision on Plaintiffs' motion to void the Agreements, *id.* at 13, thereby ignoring the fact that the superior court

voided the Agreements and the only reason to move to compel arbitration at that point would be to create a right to appeal under RAP 2.2(a)(2). CP 1460–1502. Instead, so the matter could proceed more expeditiously, FMG cross-moved in direct response to Plaintiffs' motion to void.

Second, the COA found that certain statements by FMG during the initial phase of the litigation, which it viewed as holding open the possibility of class arbitration, were sufficient to constitute waiver. Appx., pp. 13–15. In so holding, it ignored the context in which the statements were made. The first set of statements came after Plaintiffs sought leave to conduct class discovery, which occurred after the superior court's initial ruling and before the COA's first decision. FMG opposed that request, stating that class discovery ought not to be allowed unless and until there was a decision that the case could proceed on a class basis—regardless of forum. The second statement was made during argument before the COA, when, in response to Plaintiffs' claims that they were unable to bear the cost of arbitration, FMG's counsel pointed out that they were well-paid medical professionals who had engaged prominent counsel willing to undertake class action litigation on a contingent basis. *Id.* at 14–15.

Third, the COA found prejudice sufficient to support its waiver holding based on delay resulting from FMG's appeal of the superior court's order voiding the Agreements. Despite the fact that Plaintiffs initially achieved exactly what they wanted—avoiding arbitration in favor of superior court litigation and an interlocutory ruling allowing them to conduct class discovery—the COA concluded that Plaintiffs would (or might) not have expended the time, energy and resources that they have on this litigation if FMG had initially moved to compel individual arbitrations. *Id.* It cited no evidence for this illogical conclusion.

V. ARGUMENT FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

A. Litigation waiver should not be applied so as to create a right that otherwise does not exist.

Without citing to any applicable precedent, the COA mixed together the presumption in favor of arbitration and CR 8(c)'s requirement to raise affirmative defenses in one's answer to create a right to class arbitration, which right does not otherwise exist. The COA's conclusion is flawed because of the fundamental differences between the two rights—FMG's right to compel Plaintiffs' to comply with their contractual obligation to arbitrate, which by contract were individual in nature, and FMG's right to object to Plaintiffs' later efforts to arbitrate on a class basis. The former is, as the COA acknowledged, essentially, a "contractually created affirmative defense." Appx., p. 11 n.10. The right to object to class arbitration is different, however. Plaintiffs acknowledged their agreement to arbitrate, but contested its validity. At that point, FMG

was obligated to move to compel arbitration, but it was not obligated to respond to or defend against an asserted right to class arbitration, because that claim had not been made. Under CR 8, FMG had no legal obligation to object to class arbitration or move to compel individual arbitration until Plaintiffs claimed the right to arbitrate on a class basis. FMG complied with that obligation by timely moving to compel individual arbitration.

This situation is analogous to cases analyzing Washington's presuit claim-filing requirement for suits against government parties. In Mercer v. State, 48 Wn. App. 496, 497, 739 P.2d 703 (1987), for example, the plaintiff filed a complaint without first presenting a tort claim to the State. She later obtained a voluntary dismissal and re-filed her complaint after more than a year had passed. Id. In its answer to the second complaint, the State raised the claim-filing defense for the first time. Id. The failure to raise the defense earlier did not constitute waiver because the State was not obligated to raise the defense until it answered. Id. at 501-02. In contrast, cases such as Miotke v. City of Spokane, 101 Wn.2d 307, 337, 678 P.2d 803 (1984), and Dyson v. King County, 61 Wn. App. 243, 245, 809 P.2d 769 (1991), held that the defense was barred because the defendant failed to plead it in answer and allowed significant litigation to occur before raising it. Here, the COA ignored the key question of whether FMG was obligated to specifically object to class arbitration in

response to Plaintiffs' motion to void or their subsequent request for class discovery, both of which assumed there would be no arbitration. There was no reason for FMG to object to class arbitration at those times because Plaintiffs were not seeking it.

As additional support for its position, the COA states that "[b]y participating in class adjudication to resolve issues of arbitrability before asserting a right to avoid class adjudication, FMG evinced its intent to waive that right in the same way it would have if it had litigated the issues in a court and then asserted a right to arbitrate those issues." Appx., p. 12 n.10. But FMG did not *participate* in class adjudication; it never filed an answer to Plaintiffs' class action complaint, never engaged in any class proceedings such as certification, and never sought court intervention on any class issues. Instead, FMG litigated the enforceability of the Agreements of the *three individual Plaintiffs*, not the class (CP 174, 180, 182), which cannot be considered class adjudication.

In sum, it is inappropriate to apply the arbitration waiver standard in this way to hold that FMG waived its right to compel *individual* arbitration. To the contrary, FMG behaved reasonably in response to Plaintiffs' attempts to void the Agreements and litigate their claims in

superior court. Parties should not be obligated, and trial courts should not be burdened, to raise defenses and objections to claims that were never made.

B. FMG's litigation conduct cannot create a right that otherwise would not exist.

The COA found that "FMG waived its contractual right to compel individual arbitration because its conduct was inconsistent with an intent to assert the right." Appx., p. 10. This finding is deficient, however, because it is based on incorrect legal principles. When assessed under the accepted waiver doctrine, as set forth by Washington law, it is clear that FMG did not waive its right to object to class arbitration.

1. The Court of Appeals ignored Washington precedents imposing a heavy burden of proof on those asserting waiver.

This Court has clearly defined the waiver concept and explained its application:

A waiver is the intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a known right, or conduct as warrants an inference of the relinquishment of such right . . . It is a voluntary act which implies a choice, by the party, to dispense with something of value or to forego some advantage. The right, advantage, or benefit must exist at the time of the alleged waiver . . . He must intend to relinquish such right, advantage, or

³ Plaintiffs sought court intervention to conduct class discovery, but FMG vehemently opposed any such discovery, believing it was unnecessary and unwarranted. *See* Section V.B.2.i, below.

benefit; and his actions must be inconsistent with any other intention than to waive them.

Bowman v. Webster, 44 Wn.2d 667, 669, 269 P.2d 960 (1954). Implied waiver must be proved by a party's "unequivocal acts or conduct evidencing an intent to waive; waiver will not be inferred from doubtful or ambiguous factors." Jones v. Best, 134 Wn.2d 232, 241, 950 P.2d 1 (1998). Waiver is disfavored, and a party claiming waiver must prove the intention to relinquish the right or advantage. *Id.* at 241–42.

2. FMG's conduct was consistent with the intent to assert a right to compel individual arbitration.

The COA's premise that FMG's original motion to compel should have specified individual arbitration puts the cart before the horse; the *presumption* under the Agreements is for individual arbitration, which implies that no objection to class arbitration was necessary. The posture of the case at that time was that Plaintiffs filed a class action complaint and, on the very same day, sought a ruling that the Agreements were void. Plaintiffs never demanded any form of arbitration—class or otherwise—because they did not intend to arbitrate at all. FMG's response simply met them on the battlefield they chose, cross moving to compel arbitration under the terms of the Agreements (which, again, *presume* individual arbitration). The question of class versus individual arbitration was a non-issue, particularly where the issue would have been moot if the

Agreements were void as Plaintiffs contended. Therefore, it was appropriate—and certainly not inconsistent with the right to later ask for individual arbitration—for FMG to move to compel arbitration without specifically demanding individual arbitration.

If Plaintiffs had simply filed a class action complaint without concurrently moving to void the Agreements, the analysis might be different. But, as the COA notes, "[w]hether a party waived its right 'by conduct depends on the facts of the particular case and is not susceptible to bright line rules." Appx., p. 11 (quoting *Canal Station N. Condo. Ass'n v. Ballard Leary Phase II, LP*, 179 Wn. App. 289, 298, 322 P.2d 1229 (2013)). The procedural machinations of Plaintiffs from the very beginning of this case drew FMG into a dispute over the enforceability of the Agreements, which is an entirely separate issue from whether the Agreements permit class arbitration.⁴

⁴ It is also important to note that FMG's intent to arbitrate with the three named Plaintiffs individually, and not with the class, is clearly shown in FMG's original motion to compel:

[•] Noting that "each of these *three individuals*... agreed to arbitrate" all employment-related disputes. CP 174 (emphasis added).

^{• &}quot;[T]his Court should compel the *three Plaintiffs* to honor the language of the [Agreements]" by proceeding to arbitration. CP 174 (emphasis added).

^{• &}quot;Each of the *three* [*Plaintiffs*] signed an Employment Agreement which contained an Arbitration Addendum providing for arbitration of all

i. FMG's conduct during the discovery dispute between the parties demonstrated its opposition to class arbitration; it is not evidence of waiver.

The COA commented that, during the discovery dispute between the parties while the first appeal was pending, "FMG never hinted that it believed that class arbitration was unavailable under the [Agreements]." Appx., p. 13. What is odd about that statement is that Franciscan vehemently opposed Plaintiffs' efforts to engage in class discovery, arguing repeatedly that "only limited discovery relating to Dr. Romney's *individual claims* [should] be allowed," and that classwide discovery was unnecessary, unwarranted, and improper. CP 600, 612, 667 (emphasis added). Indeed, FMG sought a "Protective Order preventing Plaintiffs from obtaining discovery relating to the putative class' claims." CP 667–68. In two of its pleadings on the issue, FMG stated its intent to engage in discovery related to Romney's *individual claims* more than 30 times. CP

employment-related claims made by either *the employee* or the employer." CP 175 (emphasis added).

^{• &}quot;[A] Il three [Plaintiffs] chose to sign the Agreements . . . without alteration." CP 175 (emphasis added).

^{• &}quot;The arbitration provisions contained in the Agreements of all *three Plaintiffs* require both Plaintiffs and FMG to arbitrate all claims related to Plaintiffs' employment." CP 180 (emphasis added).

[•] Referring to "each of the *three* Employment Agreements." CP 182 (emphasis added).

600–14; CP 666–79. The following statements by FMG make its position clear:

Because FMG has already agreed to engage in discovery relating to Dr. Romney's individual claims, and *discovery relating to Plaintiffs' class claims . . . is unnecessary* and burdensome at this point, FMG would be unduly prejudiced if forced to engage in full, class-wide discovery during the appeals process.

CP 611-12 (emphasis added).

Discovery on class issues . . . is unduly burdensome, potentially unnecessary, and unwarranted at this time.

CP 667 (emphasis added).

FMG's conduct during the discovery dispute was not inconsistent with the right to later ask for individual arbitration. To the contrary, FMG's objections to Plaintiffs' class discovery requests were consistent with an intent to arbitrate individually.

ii. FMG's arguments on appeal were driven by the disputed issue—the enforceability of the Agreements; they are not evidence of waiver.

The COA further posits that "FMG's argument during its first appeal is inconsistent with an intent to assert the right to compel individual arbitration." Appx., pp. 14–15. Once again, the COA is putting the cart before the horse. The sole issue argued on appeal was whether the Agreements were enforceable. Because FMG lost on that critical issue in the superior court, FMG was at risk of being forced to litigate in court a

case it knew belonged in arbitration. Consequently, FMG's arguments on appeal focused on whether the Agreements were enforceable, not whether they contemplate individual or class arbitration. The position of the parties never changed throughout the litigation.

In sum, FMG's conduct when it initially moved to compel arbitration, during the discovery dispute, and on appeal, was consistent with an intent to arbitrate individually.

3. FMG's argument is supported by case law in Washington and elsewhere.

FMG's position is bolstered by numerous cases in which the individual versus class arbitration issue was raised at varying times, including after parties had moved to compel arbitration generally, after discovery, and even after class certification, without a court ever finding waiver of the right to compel individual arbitration.

In one notable Washington case, certain employees filed a class action complaint against their employer in February 2009. *Hill v. Garda CL Nw. Inc.*, 169 Wn. App. 685, 688, 281 P.3d 334 (2012), *rev'd on other grounds*, 179 Wn.2d 47, 308 P.3d 635 (2013). In its April 2009 answer, the employer, Garda, asserted that the employees' claims must be resolved by arbitration, but did not specify the nature of that arbitration. *Id.* at 688–89. The parties then engaged in discovery for close to a year before the

employees moved for class certification in March 2010. Id. at 689. After engaging in a failed mediation, Garda moved to compel arbitration on July 1, 2010, but again did not specify the nature of the arbitration proceedings it sought. Id. The trial court certified the class on July 23, 2010, and then, on August 28, 2010, at the hearing on Garda's motion to compel, ordered supplemental briefing on its authority to order class arbitration. Id. After briefing, the trial court ordered class arbitration. Id. The COA reversed and remanded for individual arbitration, holding that "no contractual basis existed allowing the court to order class arbitration." Id. at 699. The COA also found that Garda's conduct "did not demonstrate the extensive or aggressive litigation behavior found to be indicative of waiver." *Id.* at 694. Garda's holding is flatly inconsistent with the result here: if Garda did not waive the right to compel arbitration by engaging in litigation for more than a year before bringing its motion to compel, FMG could not possibly have waived its right to compel individual arbitration in this case.

In another compelling case, this one in the U.S. Supreme Court, a physician filed a class action complaint in New Jersey Superior Court against Oxford Health Plans for breach of contract. *Oxford Health Plans LLC v. Sutter*, 133 S. Ct. 2064, 2067 (2013). Oxford moved to compel arbitration, but did not specify the nature of the arbitration proceedings it was seeking. *Id.* The state trial court granted Oxford's motion and referred

the suit to arbitration. *Id.* The parties initiated arbitration and ultimately agreed that the arbitrator should decide whether their contract authorized class arbitration. *Id.* The arbitrator determined that it did. *Id.* Oxford eventually obtained U.S. Supreme Court review of that decision. *Id.* at 2067–68. The Court affirmed, not because Oxford had waited too long before raising the issue, but because it had agreed to allow the arbitrator to decide the issue. *Id.* at 2071.

Henderson v. U.S. Patent Commission, Ltd., 188 F. Supp. 3d 798 (N.D. III. 2016), is also relevant. There, the plaintiff filed a class action complaint and concurrently moved to certify a class. Id. at 800 The defendants promptly moved to compel arbitration without identifying the type of arbitration—individual or class—they were seeking. Id. The court granted the motion. Id. Once in arbitration, the defendants filed a motion in district court to direct the plaintiff to proceed to arbitration on an individual, rather than class, basis. Id. The district court granted the motion, despite the fact that the original motion did not specify individual arbitration. Id. at 810.5

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