FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/15/2017 1:48 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 94847-0

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CINDIUS ROMNEY as PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE for the ESTATE OF MICHAEL ROMNEY; FARON BAUER; and KRISTEN CHILDRESS, individually and on behalf of a class of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs - Respondents,

V.

FRANCISCAN MEDICAL GROUP, a Washington Corporation; FRANCISCAN HEALTH SYSTEM, a Washington Corporation; FRANCISCAN HEALTH VENTURES, a Washington Corporation; FRANCISCAN NORTHWEST PHYSICIANS HEALTH NETWORK, LLC, a Washington Corporation; and CATHOLIC HEALTH INITIATIVES, a Colorado Corporation,

Defendants - Petitioners.

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

# V. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY AS TO WHY THIS COURT SHOULD NOT TAKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

No reason exists to review the COA decision on waiver.

Defendant's petition raises only one basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). It claims that the Court of Appeals decision on waiver "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court" under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Petitioners' Brief at 1. Washington law, however, is well settled on issues of waiver. Defendant's petition fails to raise any novel issues, does not seek to change existing law, and does not claim that the COA decision conflicts with any other appellate decisions or any decision of this Court. The COA correctly held that Defendant "waived its right to object to the putative class preceding to arbitration."

There is no basis to disturb the COA's well-reasoned decision.

A. The COA Correctly Held that Defendant Waived Any Right to Object to Class Arbitration by Acting Inconsistently With Its Claimed Right to Compel Individual Arbitration.

The COA correctly analyzed and applied well-established
Washington law to find waiver. "Washington courts have consistently
recognized that contractual rights to ... arbitration may be waived." *River House Dev. Inc. v. Integrus Architecture, P.S.*, 167 Wn. App. 221, 237,
272 P.3d 289, 297 (2012)(finding waiver of arbitration). "The

determination of whether a party waived arbitration by conduct depends

on the facts of the particular case." Canal Station N. Condo. Ass'n v. Ballard Leary Phase II, LP, 179 Wn. App. 289, 298, 322 P.3d 1229, 1234 (2013). "[T]he doctrine of waiver is sensible and consistent with the policy and spirit behind our modern day procedural rules, which exist to foster and promote the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action." Lybbert v. Grant Cty., State of Wash., 141 Wn.2d 29, 39 (2000) (citing CR 1(1)). "If litigants are at liberty to act in an inconsistent fashion or employ delaying tactics, the purpose behind the procedural rules may be compromised." Id.

Here, the COA looked at Defendant's actions throughout litigation and determined that they were "inconsistent with the intent to assert a right to compel individual arbitration." COA Opinion at 12. Through its actions and statements on the record, Defendant not only demonstrated a clear intent to forego any right to compel individual arbitration, but also their **affirmative agreement** to proceed with consolidated class arbitration. The COA's holding is consistent with Washington law.

1. Defendant acted inconsistently with a right to individual arbitration by moving to compel the entire consolidated class action to arbitration before a single arbitrator.

As the COA correctly observed, "FMG's original motion to compel arbitration did not include any objections to class arbitration."

COA Opinion at 12. If Defendant truly believed that class claims could not

be arbitrated under the contracts, it had to raise that when it affirmatively moved to Compel Arbitration. Motions "shall state with particularity the grounds therefor, and shall set forth the relief or order sought." CR 7(b)(1). Here, Defendant moved to, "compel Plaintiffs to bring their claims in arbitration." CP 180. Defendant's motion did not ever mention individual arbitration. CP 169-189, CP 235-247. As the COA observed:

[W]hen FMG wanted a determination on the right to compel arbitration of those issues, it was content to litigate against the putative class. Thus, FMG was able to establish the enforceability of the arbitration agreements against all three named plaintiffs in one action rather than in three individual actions. By participating in class adjudication to resolve issue of arbitrability before asserting a right to avoid class adjudication, FMG evinced its intent to waive that right in the same way it would have if it had litigated the issues in a court and then asserted a right to arbitrate those issues.

COA Opinion at 11-12, n. 10 (emphasis added).

Contrary to Defendant's legally baseless assertion, it could not tactically and prejudicially wait to challenge Plaintiffs' right to class arbitration until after other issues of arbitrability had been decided.

Defendant's reliance on the COA's decision in *Hill v. Garda CL Northwest, Inc.*, an opinion that was reversed by this Court, is unavailing. 169 Wn.App. 685, 281 P.3d 334 (2012), *rev'd by Hill v. Garda CL Northwest, Inc.*, 179 Wn.2d 47, 308 P.3d 635 (2013). Unlike the

order arbitration on an individual basis as part of its motion to compel arbitration. *Id.* at 689 (noting that "[a]t the hearing on Garda's motion to compel, the trial court ordered supplemental briefing on its authority to order class arbitration."). While the COA in *Hill* did not find waiver, the parties there presented no argument about whether the employer had waived its right to compel *individual* arbitration. In reversing the COA's decision in *Hill*, this Court reiterated that "a party must raise objections to arbitration in the trial court or on first review or risk having waived the challenge." *Hill*, 179 Wn.2d at 54.

Additionally, the non-binding federal cases Defendant cites are readily distinguishable and not helpful to Defendant. In *Oxford Health Plans LLC v. Sutter*, the Supreme Court held that an arbitrator did not exceed his powers when ruling that an arbitration agreement that did not mention class claims nevertheless allowed for class arbitration. 133 S.Ct. 2064, 2071 (2013). *Oxford* did not deal with the issue of waiver at all. Similarly, in *Henderson v. U.S. Patent Commission, Ltd*, the issue of waiver was not before the court, and unlike here, the defendant in that case never stated on the record that an arbitrator had the power to certify the class. 188 F.Supp.3d 798 (N.D.Ill., 2016); *see also Crook v. Wyndham Vacation Ownership, Inc.*, 2015 WL 4452111 (N.D.Cal., July 20, 2015)(no waiver analysis).

Here, Defendant moved to compel Plaintiffs' entire consolidated class complaint to arbitration and agreed that class issues could be decided by a single arbitrator. Defendant acknowledged from the outset that Plaintiffs had class claims, yet waited until review was denied by this Court on the original appeal to assert a contrary position. It then filed a **second motion to compel arbitration**. Defendant violated Plaintiffs' right to "the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination" of this issue, *Lybbert*, 141 Wn.2d at 39, and this constitutes waiver.

2. Defendant agreed to class arbitration, as evidenced by its admissions on the record that an arbitrator had the power to certify the class.

Defendant's recent statement to the COA that it "acknowledge[s] that an arbitrator has the power to *certify* a class," COA Br. of Resp'ts at 23, is evidence of Defendant's **agreement** to class arbitration. As the COA correctly observed, "the arbitrator would have the power to certify a class **only if the [parties'] agreement permits class arbitration.**" COA Opinion at 14 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The COA's decision that the parties' arbitration agreements do not permit class arbitration is contrary to the language of the agreements themselves and inconsistent with Defendant's agreement that an arbitrator had the "power to certify the class." COA Opinion at 10. While Plaintiffs do not believe review is necessary or appropriate in this case, should the Court nevertheless grant review, it should also review whether the COA's determination that FMG had a contractual right to avoid class arbitration is incorrect. "This court has inherent authority to consider issues not raised by the parties if necessary to reach a proper

Through its actions, statements and admissions, Defendant did not simply waive its right to argue for individual arbitration – it agreed to consolidated class arbitration. Just as the parties in *Oxford* consented to an arbitrator determining whether class arbitration was permitted, Defendant in this case consented in writings and pleadings before multiple courts to a single arbitrator determining class issues. *See Oxford*, 133 S.Ct. at 2066.

Even prior to its recent admission at the COA, Defendant agreed in writing at least 16 times in signed pleadings that under the Agreements a single arbitrator had the power to certify a class. Defendant agreed to this while attempting to prevent Dr. Romney's participation and class discovery. Defendant cannot ignore the fact that it agreed in writing that the arbitrator could certify the class. Lying in wait until this Court denied Plaintiffs' petition for review underscores, and does not erase that Defendant's words and actions were consistent with its agreement to arbitrate class claims. The irrefutable truth is that Defendant never argued that class discovery should not proceed because class arbitrations were precluded; it agreed in writing that the Agreement allowed for class arbitration. As the COA pointed out, "[o]ne would have expected FMG to argue that, if it won the appeal, class arbitration would not be available at all." COA Opinion at 14.

decision." State v. Cantu, 156 Wn. 2d 819, 822, n. 1, 132 P.3d 725, 726 (2006), as amended (May 26, 2006).

Had the actual Agreement said otherwise, Defendant would have made this silver bullet argument. Instead, it agreed that an arbitrator could certify the class. These actions demonstrate Defendant's intent to arbitrate the class and constitute absolute waiver.

Finally, as the COA recognized, Defendant used the availability of class arbitration as a legal basis to argue the arbitration agreements were conscionable during the first appeal. COA Opinion at 15. Defendant cannot now renege on what it agreed to in pleadings and represented to the COA during the first appeal. It is disingenuous for it to now claim that it did so because "it was focused on whether the Agreements were enforceable." Br. of Petitioner at 14.

For over two years, when it suited Defendant, it represented and agreed that class claims could be arbitrated. Under well-established Washington law regarding waiver, Defendant cannot now take the opposite position and prejudice Plaintiffs and the putative class.

3. Defendant acted inconsistently with its supposed right to compel individual arbitration.

The COA held that because Defendant drafted the Arbitration

Agreements, it is presumed to know its rights under those agreements.

COA Opinion at 12. While Plaintiffs strongly disagree that the

Agreements preclude class arbitration, the COA correctly held that since

Defendant drafted them it should have known what they said. Thus,

Defendant waived the right to make that argument by not timely raising it.

Defendant's new claim that it "presumed" individual arbitration was allowed bolsters the COA's holding that Defendant waived any right to compel individual arbitration by its acts and omissions. If Defendant truly had such a presumption that the right to individual arbitration was clear, Defendant needed to assert it or it is waived. *See Hill*, 179 Wn.2d at 54. Defendant did not assert it and agreed in writing to the exact opposite, thus demonstrating its clear intent to arbitrate class claims.

B. As the COA Correctly Held, Plaintiffs Suffered Prejudice by Defendant's Substantial Delay in Asserting Any Right to Compel Individual Arbitration.

Plaintiffs were prejudiced by the years of delay caused by

Defendant's change in position, including expending substantial fees and
costs associated with this latest round of appeals. Plaintiffs filed this case in
2013 and have already been through one appeal and a prior petition for
review to this Court. Had Defendant complied with CR 7 when it first
moved to compel class arbitration, the parties and the three courts that have
already reviewed this case, could have addressed Defendant's arguments
then. Instead, Defendant agreed that the Agreements allowed for class
arbitration in order to gain a tactical advantage, forcing delay and the parties
to spend time, money, and resources litigating two motions to compel, two

appeals, and now two motions for discretionary review. "[D]elay amounts to prejudice when there is no good excuse for it." *Steele v. Lundgren*, 85 Wn. App. 845, 858, 935 P.2d 671, 678 (1997). Here, Defendant has no legitimate excuse.

In addition, due to Defendant's years of delay, the statute of limitations for the putative class members has the potential to extinguish class claims. The original COA opinion in this case was issued on February 17, 2015 where the court ordered the entire consolidated class action complaint to Arbitration. *Romney*, 186 Wn.App. at 748. It has now been an additional-two-and a-half years of litigating class arbitration issues that should have been resolved in the first round. While the class claims are tolled and will proceed in arbitration, Defendant's delay would be devastatingly prejudicial if class arbitration was denied.

Moreover, during this long and unnecessary litigation caused by

Defendant's failure to timely raise a supposed right, Dr. Romney died.

Defendant now seeks to force his widow to litigate his claims separately
from both the class and her co-Plaintiffs, who are the primary witnesses to
the violations. Had Defendant originally moved to compel individual
arbitration, the parties and courts could have addressed all these issues in an
efficient manner, and saved significantly on time, energy, and resources.

Defendant's waiver also denied Plaintiffs the opportunity to argue during the first appeal that any class arbitration waiver was unconscionable. However, since Defendant moved to compel the entire class complaint to arbitration, "never even hinted" that class arbitration was precluded, and more importantly agreed that class arbitration was permitted, Plaintiffs had no reason to raise this argument. This was and is a viable argument. An employment agreement that fails to inform an employee that he or she is waiving their right to litigate as a class is unconscionable under state law, and violates the right to act collectively under federal law. See McKee v. AT & T Corp., 164 Wn.2d 372, 397-98 (2008); Morris v. Ernst & Young, LLP, 834 F.3d 975 (9th Cir. 2016) (arbitration agreements in employment contracts that preclude class actions and force employees to arbitrate claims individually illegally violate the rights of employees to collectively seek legal remedies). Defendant's failure to assert a purported right to individual arbitration prevented Plaintiffs from being able to raise these arguments and is prejudicial.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

The COA's well-reasoned decision on waiver should not be disturbed. Defendant agreed on the record that an arbitrator could determine class issues and waived any argument to the contrary. Plaintiffs' class claims must proceed to arbitration before a single arbitrator.